STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

 On June 2, 2022, the Circuit Court entered judgment against Ford Motor Company for 

$6,930,000 based on a jury verdict in favor of Plaintiff.  III JA 644-645.1  On September 28, 2022, 

the Circuit Court denied Ford’s post-trial motion for judgment as a matter of law or in the 

alternative for a new trial.  VIII JA 4156-4166.  Ford timely filed a notice of appeal.  VIII JA 4167-

4197.  This Court has jurisdiction under W. Va. Stat. Ann. § 51-11-4(b)(1).  

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR  

1. Whether Ford is entitled to judgment as a matter of law or a new trial based on the 

Circuit Court’s error in holding that West Virginia law does not require plaintiffs in negligent 

design cases to prove the existence of a feasible alternative design that would have eliminated the 

asserted risk of injury.    

2. Whether Ford is entitled to a new trial based on the Circuit Court’s error in allowing 

Plaintiff’s expert to testify about and rely upon computer simulations that he agreed did not reflect 

substantially similar conditions to Ms. Bumgarner’s crash, in conflict with Ilosky v. Michelin Tire 

Corp., 172 W. Va. 435, 307 S.E.2d 603 (1983). 

3. Whether Ford is entitled to judgment as a matter of law for additional reasons 

beyond the lack of feasible alternative design evidence because Plaintiff also offered no evidence 

at trial that would sustain a jury finding that Ford failed to exercise reasonable care when designing 

the 2014 Mustang’s brake fluid reservoir or that Ford’s design of the brake fluid reservoir was a 

proximate cause of Ms. Bumgarner’s death.   

 

 

 

 
1  The citations to the joint appendix refer to the appendix volume and page number where 

each reference can be found.  
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INTRODUCTION 

In 2016, Anna Errickson was 16 years old and driving 62 miles per hour down a winding, 

two-lane West Virginia road.  When rounding a curve, Errickson drove off the side of the road, 

overcorrected, crossed over the center line and crashed into Breanna Bumgarner’s 2014 Mustang 

which was traveling in the opposite direction.  The closing speed of the crash was more than 100 

mph and the resulting damage to the Mustang was severe.  See VIII JA 3977 (photograph of post-

collision vehicle).  The crash led to a fire in the front of the Mustang that eventually progressed 

into the occupant compartment.  Ms. Bumgarner was unable to exit the vehicle or be removed by 

bystanders and died.  

Plaintiff, the administrator for Ms. Bumgarner’s estate, filed strict liability and negligence 

claims against Ford and others in Kanawha County Circuit Court.  Her claims against Ford alleged 

there were two design defects in the 2014 Mustang.  Plaintiff first alleged that the design of the 

vehicle’s occupant compartment was defective because it allowed too much crush, which 

prevented Ms. Bumgarner from exiting the vehicle after the crash.  Plaintiff also claimed that the 

design of the brake fluid reservoir was defective because it was inadequately protected, which 

allowed the release of brake fluid that caused the fire.    

At trial, Plaintiff chose not to call one of her previously designated brake fluid reservoir 

design experts, and instead Plaintiff focused nearly all of her evidence on the occupant 

compartment claim.  After all evidence was in and the court agreed with Ford that Plaintiff was 

required to offer proof of a feasible alternative design for her claims, Plaintiff withdrew her strict 

liability claim just before closing arguments.  She then convinced the Circuit Court to rule that her 

remaining negligent design claim did not require proof of a feasible alternative design, that Ford 
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was precluded from arguing otherwise in its closing argument, and that all references to a feasible 

alternative design would be removed from the jury instructions. 

The jury returned a split verdict.  It found that Plaintiff did not prove her negligent design 

claim as to the occupant compartment, but that Plaintiff did prove her negligent design claim as to 

the brake fluid reservoir.  The jury allocated 99% of the fault for causing Ms. Bumgarner’s death 

to Ford for its negligent design of the brake fluid reservoir, while finding Errickson’s negligence 

in causing the crash only constituted 1% of the fault.  This allocation resulted in an award of 

damages against Ford of $6,930,000. 

The judgment should be reversed based on two legal errors that make West Virginia an 

outlier and distort longstanding precedent of the Supreme Court of Appeals.  As the record reflects, 

the Circuit Court got these issues right before changing its mind.  In addition, the Circuit Court 

erred in not recognizing that even setting aside these errors, the evidence at trial was insufficient 

to sustain the jury’s verdict.  These errors are explained in more detail below. 

The Circuit Court’s first legal error was holding that a negligent design claim under West 

Virginia law does not require proof of a feasible alternative design that would have avoided the 

harm.  A negligent design claim, like a strict liability claim, asks whether a product is defective in 

that it is not safe for its intended use.  To show a defect, a plaintiff must offer evidence of a feasible 

alternative design that a manufacturer could have used to avoid the risk of injury at issue.  The fact 

that Plaintiff could not point to a feasible alternative design that Ford could have used and that 

would have protected the brake fluid reservoir in a crash of this severity is not surprising.  It should 

have been dispositive.  Put simply, Plaintiff’s case was built on the notion Ford was negligent for 

not designing the brake fluid reservoir to do something that even Plaintiff’s expert considered 

impossible: avoid all fires in all accidents, regardless of the severity of the accident.   
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The Circuit Court wrongly concluded that West Virginia law does not require proof of a 

feasible alternative design in a negligent design claim.  The consequences of this error were 

twofold:  The Circuit Court denied Ford judgment as a matter of law despite the lack of evidence 

of a feasible alternate design that would have avoided the injury here, and it pulled all references 

to a feasible alternative design requirement from the instructions resulting in jury instructions that 

did not correctly state West Virginia law.  Plaintiff’s failure to present any evidence of a feasible 

alternative design Ford could have used and that would have avoided a fire in an accident of this 

severity should have resulted in judgment in its favor.  But at minimum, the court’s instructional 

error entitles Ford to a new liability trial. 

The second legal error came when the Circuit Court shifted course to allow Plaintiffs to 

present testimony about simulation evidence the court correctly held, pretrial, was inadmissible.  

In its pretrial ruling, the Circuit Court excluded certain simulations done by Plaintiff’s design 

expert as irrelevant, inadmissible, and likely to mislead the jury because those simulations did not 

involve sufficiently similar circumstances to this crash.  But at trial, the Circuit Court re-interpreted 

the meaning of Ilosky after Plaintiff again sought to present evidence about those excluded 

simulations.  Even as the court continued to recognize that the simulations were not substantially 

similar to the crash and therefore presented a risk of unfair prejudice, it allowed Plaintiff’s design 

expert to describe, testify about, and rely upon the very simulations that the court properly deemed 

inadmissible.  The admission of such prejudicial and misleading testimony warrants a new trial. 

The judgment should be reversed for a third reason as well.  Separate and apart from 

whether West Virginia law imposes a feasible alternative design requirement as part of proving a 

defect, the trial record lacks any evidence that Ford failed to exercise reasonable care when 

designing the 2014 Mustang’s brake fluid reservoir.  If the 2014 Mustang was defective because 
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it sustained damaged in this crash, then every vehicle on the road in West Virginia is likewise 

defective.  As the jury heard, the design for the 2014 Mustang complied with the state of the art 

and all regulatory safety standards.  Because all evidence contradicted Plaintiff’s claim that Ford 

failed to exercise reasonable care when designing the 2014 Mustang’s brake fluid reservoir, a 

reasonable jury could not find otherwise.  Nor could a reasonable jury conclude that Plaintiff 

proved proximate cause, because she did not identify a single design that would have eliminated 

the risk of a post-collision fire in this wreck.   

Ford is entitled to judgment in its favor because Plaintiff failed to carry her burden to prove 

multiple essential elements of a negligent design claim, including the existence of a feasible 

alternative design.  At a minimum, the Circuit Court’s instructional and evidentiary errors were 

prejudicial and entitle Ford to a new trial. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Factual background. 

1.  The accident.  In 2016, Anna Errickson was driving her parents’ truck down a winding 

road in West Virginia.  IV JA 2226:6-2227:9, 2228:19-2229:7.  Errickson veered off the side of 

the road while trying to negotiate a downhill curve at approximately 62 mph.  III JA 1059:64 -21; 

IV JA 1521: 4-20, 2228:19-2229:7, 2532:14-2533:14, 2350:23-2351:18.  She overcorrected, 

crossed the center lane, and struck at a 40-degree angle a 2014 Mustang that was driving 57 mph 

in the opposite direction.  III JA 1059:6-21; IV JA 2217:17-19, 2363:6-2364:17, 3144:21-23; VIII 

JA 3984; see also II JA 325 (depicting Kennett’s reconstruction diagram); VII JA 3944 

(photograph of accident scene); VII JA 3946 (similar).  The closing speed of the two vehicles 

exceeded 100 mph, causing nearly four feet of crush in the front of the Mustang.  III JA 1109:13-

1111:6; IV JA 2216:6-2217:13, 2221:17-2223:5; VIII JA 3980.  And the Mustang’s change in 
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velocity (“Delta V”) —a tool used to evaluate accidents—was 51 mph, which exceeded the 98th 

percentile for accidents that resulted in death or serious injuries.  IV JA 2219:21-23, 3170:15-

3171:2, 3171:10-3174:18.  

Experts for Plaintiff and Ford recognized the need for vehicles to deform as a means to 

manage crash forces.  IV JA 1818:4-1819:15, 2361:13-2362:2.  In a frontal crash, these forces are 

“easier to manage” because the accident engages the “majority of the frame structure.”  IV JA 

3146:5-9.  In this accident, however, the 100 mph closing speed and 40-degree angle of impact  

created “very excessive forces,” allowing Errickson’s truck to override the Mustang’s structure.  

IV JA 3146:10-16, 3148:20-3149:4.  As a result of the impact geometry, the Mustang was required 

to manage and absorb far more of the energy in the accident. IV JA 2359:15-2363:16.  

Unsurprisingly, the 2014 Mustang suffered severe damage.  See, e.g., VIII JA 3977, 3978 

(photographs of post-collision vehicle); VII JA 3956 (overhead photograph of post-collision 

vehicle).  One of those photographs is reproduced here.   

VIII JA 3977. 

The brake fluid reservoir in the Mustang is attached to the master cylinder, which is bolted 

to the brake booster at the rear of the engine compartment on the driver’s side—largely the same 

configuration and location used in all vehicles.  IV JA 2841:9-2844:14, 2846:21-2849:4.  

According to Plaintiff’s fire expert, the deformation in the front of the Mustang compromised the 
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reservoir, and brake fluid leaked, vaporized, and ignited, resulting in a post-collision fire that 

eventually reached the occupant compartment, where Ms. Bumgarner was trapped and died as a 

result of damage from the crash.  III JA 903:20-904:3, 926:2-18, 1225:19, 1608:9-21. 

2.  Plaintiff’s suit.  Ms. Bumgarner’s mother, Angel Tyler, as the administrator of her 

daughter’s estate, filed suit against Errickson, her parents, and Ford.  I JA 21-25.  Relevant here, 

Plaintiff alleged that Errickson was negligent, her parents were vicariously liable as owners of the 

truck, and Ford was both strictly liable for and negligent in its defective design of the 2014 

Mustang.  I JA 19-22, 24.   

3.  The 2014 Mustang.  At trial, it was undisputed that Ford complied with every applicable 

regulatory and industry standard when it designed the 2014 Mustang.  IV JA 1911, 1918-1924, 

2002.  Plaintiff’s expert conceded  that no vehicle on the market can prevent a fire in all collisions, 

especially one at 100 mph closing speed, and that no manufacturer can prevent the release of brake 

and other engine compartment fluids in all crashes.  III JA 1474, 1579-1580.  

 The 2014 Mustang was part of Ford’s S197 program which included Mustangs 

manufactured and sold between model years 2005 and 2014.  IV JA 1925:15-1926:3, 2783:18-

2784:1, 2790:9-21, 2833:3-8.  As required of all vehicles sold in the United States, the 2014 

Mustang complied with all applicable Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards (FMVSS).  This 

includes the federal brake system safety standard as well as safety standards for occupant crash 

protection and fuel system integrity standards, which require performance in frontal (30 mph into 

a rigid barrier) and side (30 mph impact by a moving barrier) crash tests.  IV JA 1918-1922, 2002, 

2838.   

The 2014 Mustang similarly complied with industry crash test requirements.  Plaintiff’s 

design expert, Dr. Chandra Thorbole agreed that the Mustang did “great” in a crash test by the 
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National Highway Traffic Safety Administration’s New Car Assessment Program (NCAP) where 

vehicles are crashed into a rigid barrier at 35 mph.  IV JA 1911:17-20, 2002:18-24.  The forces 

experienced in the crash in this case resulted in more than twice the energy than in the NCAP test.  

IV JA 2380. 

Further, at the time the Mustang was designed and developed, the Insurance Institute for 

Highway Safety (IIHS) used a 40 percent offset/ 40 mph (“40/40”) front crash test to evaluate 

vehicle performance.  III JA 1162.  During this time, Thorbole agreed the 40/40 crash test was 

“widely accepted as a good test of occupant compartment strength” and “front end crumple zone 

performance”—the very area where the brake fluid reservoir is located.  IV JA 1930-1931.  

Thorbole and Plaintiff’s accident reconstruction expert, Kelly Kennett, acknowledged that the 

Mustang passed with a “big compliance margin,” and received the best rating offered by the IIHS 

on this test.  III JA 1136-1137, 1162:14-1163:16, 1212; IV JA 1924:7-12.   

It was undisputed that vehicle braking systems require a brake fluid reservoir and must 

comply with FMVSS 135.  See IV JA 2838:2-2840:1, 2843:2-2847:19.  Ford then presented 

unrefuted testimony that Ford followed standard practice and met federal safety standards by using 

an impact-grade polymer for its brake fluid reservoir—a material created to “resist fracturing or 

breaking apart,” while allowing the fluid level to be checked without removing the reservoir cap.  

IV JA 2845:11-2846:5, 2846:11-20.  And Ford placed the reservoir in the same location as “just 

about every application” across the industry.  IV JA 2848:19-20.  This area was well protected by 

several surrounding structures, resulting in excellent performance in the FMVSS, NCAP and 40/40 

crash tests.  IV JA 2850:1-2860:17.  Indeed, no one identified a single one of these crash tests in 

which the Mustang’s brake fluid reservoir was compromised. 
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Plaintiff did not identify any federal, public domain or industry crash or design standard 

for the brake fluid reservoir that Ford failed to meet.  To the contrary, her expert Thorbole agreed 

that nothing in the FMVSS testing “indicated that [Ford] made the wrong decision in the materials 

that it identified.”  IV JA 1923:23-1924:6.  He did not see any issues from the IIHS tests or NCAP 

testing, either.  IV JA 1923-1924.  And from a design perspective, no test could even produce the 

“kind of loading” necessary “to say one way or another whether it’s defective or not” under these 

circumstances.  IV JA 1923:16-18.  Ford’s engineering expert, Jon Olson, confirmed this view and 

added that “the fluid systems . . . were tested to the highest standards that existed at the time the 

S197 was in that strategic confirmation phase and ultimately up through its production.”  IV JA 

2867:16-20.  

B. The trial testimony. 

The case proceeded to trial in May 2022.  See I JA 10.  Plaintiff presented evidence from 

an accident reconstruction expert (Kelly Kennett, III JA 1057:2-5); a fire and explosion analyst 

(Mike Schulz, III JA 1223:2-16); a forensic pathologist (Dr. Jonathan Arden, III JA 1595:14-23); 

an occupant-protection, biomechanics, and crashworthiness expert (Dr. Chandra K. Thorbole, IV 

JA 1819:16-1820:13; and several fact witnesses.   

1.  Plaintiff’s occupant compartment claim.  Plaintiff focused extensively on her claim that 

the occupant-compartment design in the 2014 Mustang was defective.  She relied on Thorbole to 

prove this asserted defect.  He testified that in his opinion, any vehicle that allows more than 2 to 

3 inches of crush in its safety cage in any frontal crash scenario is defective.  IV JA 1893:8-

1894:23.  Thorbole insisted that the only circumstances in which a vehicle could acceptably sustain 

more than 3 inches of crush would be if it was driven over a cliff or crashed into a barrier at 100 

mph.  IV JA 2145:2-2148:2.  The jury rejected this claim.  III JA 576-578. 
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2.  Plaintiff’s brake fluid reservoir claim.  Plaintiff spent much less time at trial trying to 

prove her brake fluid reservoir claim.  Indeed, Plaintiff declined to even call one of the experts on 

the design of Ford’s brake fluid reservoir that she vehemently defended prior to trial, instead 

relying on Thorbole to testify about the brake fluid reservoir too.  Thorbole testified that in the 

accident, the shock tower protecting the brake fluid reservoir in the 2014 Mustang went 

“backwards at a very high rate and it actually produced the failure of the brake reservoir and the 

brake cylinder.”  IV JA 1881:19-21.  He did not offer an opinion that this design was defective.  

He did not criticize Ford’s placement of the brake fluid reservoir.  And he did not testify that other 

car manufacturers placed the reservoir in a different, safer location.  IV JA 1819, 1891.  Rather, 

Thorbole testified that Ford could have somehow better protected the vehicle’s brake fluid 

reservoir.  IV JA 1815:3-7.   

3.  Thorbole proposes adding a boron bar to the 2014 Ford.  Thorbole first suggested that 

Ford could have used a “high strength strut” made of boron steel that a particular Mercedes model 

placed between its shock tower and cowl panel.  IV JA 1882:6-24.  But, as Thorbole himself 

recognized, the high strength strut in the Mercedes vehicle failed to protect the brake fluid 

reservoir in Mercedes’ own crash test.  IV JA 2085:11-2086:4.  It was thus not a feasible 

alternative design that Ford could have used to prevent the damage that occurred in the accident 

here.  IV JA 2093:8-12 (Thorbole testifying that the “boron bar itself is not an alternative design”).  

Just the opposite: after Ford played the video of the Mercedes crash test at trial, Thorbole admitted 

that the steel strut “actually came loose,” and that the brake fluid reservoir “toppled over” and 

“went tumbling around.”  IV JA 2084:11-13, 2085:17-18, 2086:1-9; VIII JA 3970-3972.  Thorbole 

further conceded that he didn’t know of a single Mercedes crash test where the steel strut actually 
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worked in the way that he suggested it might.  IV JA 2086:15-2087:14.  Eventually, Thorbole 

expressly agreed that the “boron bar itself is not an alternative design.”  IV JA 2093: 8-12.    

Thorbole nevertheless attempted to show that the boron bar would have been effective in 

eliminating the risk of fire in this crash based on a computer simulation he conducted in which he 

“fully constrained” both ends of a boron steel strut to a Mustang’s shock tower and cowl panel.  

IV JA 2097:1-9, 2098:6-7.   

4.  Ford’s attempts to properly limit Thorbole’s testimony.  Before trial, Ford moved to 

exclude Thorbole’s computer simulation and related testimony.  II JA 323-335.  Ford argued that 

the conditions Thorbole set for his simulations differed substantially from the conditions of Ms. 

Bumgarner’s accident and were therefore inadmissible.   

As Ford explained, Thorbole’s simulations were rooted in his “hypothesis” that the crash 

configuration that occurred here, matched a small overlap, rigid barrier (SORB) crash test.  In a 

SORB test, the vehicle is aligned with a rigid barrier that is offset to the left of the vehicle centerline 

by 25% and then the vehicle impacts a rigid barrier at 40 mph.  II JA 326-327 (citing IIHS 

protocol).  But that hypothesis conflicted with the testimony of Plaintiff’s accident reconstruction 

expert that Errickson did not crash head-on into Ms. Bumgarner’s vehicle, but rather crashed at a 

40-degree angle.    

     

II JA 327-328 (depicting Kennett’s reconstruction diagram on the left and a diagram of the SORB 

configuration on the right).   

,/\

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