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

Moreover, these matters have been adequately briefed by Ford’s appellate counsel and the 

undersigned counsel for Plaintiff such that oral argument is not essential for this Court to arrive at 

the proper conclusion. 

STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

Though this Court reviews the denial of a post-verdict motion for judgment as a matter of 

law, Gillingham v. Stephenson, 209 W. Va. 741, 745 (2001), a jury’s findings of fact “will not 

ordinarily be disturbed,” Syl. Pt. 5, Ilosky, 172 W. Va. 435 sufficiency of evidence in this case is 

viewed with great deference to Plaintiff.  

This Court must: (1) [Consider] the evidence most favorable to the [Plaintiff]; (2) 

Assume that all conflicts in the evidence were resolved by the jury in favor of the [Plaintiff]; (3) 

Assume as proved all facts which the [Plaintiff’s] evidence tends to prove; and (4) Give to the 

[Plaintiff] the benefit of all favorable inference which reasonably may be drawn from the facts 
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provided. Syllabus Point 5, Orr v. Crowder, 173 W. Va. 335 (1983). Simply, Ford must show 

that “[a]fter considering the evidence in the light most favorable to [the Plaintiff] only one 

reasonable conclusion as to [a] verdict [in Ford’s favor] can be reached.” Gillingham v. 

Stephenson, 209 W. Va. 741, 745 (2001). 

 

ARGUMENT 

I. Feasible Alternative Design is not a required element in a negligence product 
liability case. 
 

As the first argument in their appeal, Ford urges that a negligent product liability claim – 

in addition to a strict liability design claim – requires proof of a feasible alternative design. Ford 

argues that Plaintiff did not prove such a feasible alternative design and, therefore, Plaintiff 

underproved her case.  

As a settled matter of West Virginia law, Ford is mistaken. The following demonstrates 

three important realities. 

a. Plaintiff overproved her negligence product liability case by specifically proving 
that the 2014 Ford Mustang was defective. 
 

Under West Virginia law, a Plaintiff may establish product liability by proving one or more 

of the following three theories: 

1. That there was a defect in the product (Strict Liability); 

2. That the Defendant was negligent (Negligence); and/or 

3. That the Defendant breached a warranty covering the product (Warranties). 

W. Va. P.J.I. § 401 (citing Syl. Pt. 6, Ilosky v. Michelin Tire Corp., 172 W. Va. 435 (1983)). 

Each theory requires distinct instruction in the law, and each is decided separately. Id.  
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In West Virginia, theories of strict liability and negligence have different elements. Strict 

liability requires demonstrating that the product was “defective when it left the possession of the 

defendant.”  W. Va. P.J.I. § 402 (citing Syl. Pts. 4-6, Morningstar v. Black & Decker Mfg. Co., 

162 W. Va. 857 (1979)). Negligence, on the other hand, requires showing the “[d]efendant was 

negligent in manufacturing the product.” W. Va. P.J.I. § 424. Negligence is measured against the 

decisions that a “reasonably careful manufacturer would use in similar circumstances to avoid 

exposing others to a foreseeable risk of harm.” W. Va. P.J.I. § 424 (citing Strahin v. Cleavenger, 

216 W. Va. 175, 183 (2004); Honaker v. Mahon, 210 W. Va. 53, 58 (2001)). To determine whether 

a defendant acted negligently, the jury is not instructed to make a determination on product 

defectiveness. Instead, they are asked to evaluate the defendant’s conduct to evaluate “what the 

defendant knew or should have known about the likelihood and seriousness of potential harm from 

the product against the burden of taking safety measures to reduce or avoid the harm.” Id. 

Plaintiff overproved her case because the trial court added an extra element to Plaintiff’s 

negligence theory. In addition to the Pattern Jury Instructions’ charges, the trial court required 

Plaintiff to prove that the Ford Mustang was defective – an element that West Virginia law attaches 

to strict liability, not negligence. W. Va. P.J.I. §§ 402, 424. Plaintiff explained to the court that a 

defendant could fail to do what a “reasonably careful manufacturer would [do] in similar 

circumstances to avoid exposing others to a foreseeable risk of harm” without creating a product 

that is ultimately defective and that, therefore, it was improper to require Plaintiff to prove product 

defect. See W. Va. P.J.I. § 424 (citing Strahin v. Cleavenger, 216 W. Va. 175, 183 (2004); Honaker 

v. Mahon, 210 W. Va. 53, 58 (2001)). Unfortunately, the trial court added an element to the Pattern 

Jury Instructions by adding the element of defectiveness to Plaintiff’s negligent design case. Still, 
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the jury specifically found that Plaintiff met that requirement and proved defectiveness. III JA 576 

at 1(a). 

b. Proof of a feasible alternative design is not a required element of a negligent design 
case under West Virginia law. 
 

West Virginia – like nearly every state in the U.S. – has an established set of Pattern Jury 

Instructions. And though the instructions are not binding on a trial court, the instructions were 

painstakingly edited. The current version of the West Virginia Pattern Jury Instructions was 

handed down in September 2017. W. Va. P.J.I. Preface. It was released following “multiple edits 

and revisions after extensive research and editing by the reporters, the review committees,” and 

multiple West Virginia judges. Id. They include copious citations to Supreme Court precedent and 

other cases.  

The Pattern Jury Instructions clarify what elements are – and are not – required for various 

product liability theories. Sections 402 through 411 show the elements of a STRICT LIABILITY 

claim. Then, Sections 424 through 428 show the elements of a NEGLIGENCE theory. Under the 

Pattern Jury Instructions, the matter is clear: feasible alternative design is not among the requisite 

elements of a negligent theory of product liability. See W. Va. P.J.I. §§ 424-428. 

Judge Joseph Goodwin (Southern District of West Virginia) explained why that is the case. 

Judge Goodwin has been on the federal bench for nearly thirty years and served as Chief Justice 

of the district for five years. In 2017, Judge Goodwin affirmingly cited West Virginia’s negligence 

product liability instructions in the matter of Mullins v. Johnson & Johnson, 236 F.Supp.3d 940 

(S.D.W.Va. 2017) and – through citations to both the West Virginia Supreme Court and  held that 

feasible alternative design is not required under a negligent design theory:  

The defendants argue that an alternative, feasible design is required 
for proving the plaintiffs’ cases under both strict liability and 
negligence . . . As I have already pointed out, the West Virginia 
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Supreme Court has held that negligence and strict liability 
claims have different elements. Syl. pt. 6, Ilosky, 307 S.E.2d at 
605. Moreover, the PJI even separates the products liability 
instructions based on negligence, strict liability, and breach of 
warranty theories, establishing different elements of proof for each. 
Sections 424 and 425 of the PJI state the applicable standards for 
negligence in a products liability case, and absent from these 
instructions is any element of proof regarding an alternative, feasible 
design. See W. Va. P.J.I. §§ 424, 425. Unlike in strict liability, 
where the defective condition of the product is the principal 
basis of liability, negligence focuses on the conduct of the 
manufacturer. See Syl. pt. 3, Morningstar v. Black & Decker Mfg. 
Co., 162 W.Va. 857, 253 S.E.2d 666, 667 (1979) (“The cause of 
action covered by the term ‘strict liability in tort’ is designed to 
relieve the plaintiff from proving that the manufacturer was 
negligent in some particular fashion during the manufacturing 
process and to permit proof of the defective condition of the product 
as the principal basis of liability.”); see also 63 Am. Jur. 2d Products 
Liability § 519 (“Strict liability looks at the product itself and 
determines if it is defective, whereas negligence looks at the act 
of the manufacturer and the court determines if the 
manufacturer exercised ordinary care in design and 
production.”) Certainly, the existence of an alternative, feasible 
design is relevant to the manufacturer's conduct, but a requirement 
to establish an alternative, feasible design is simply not among the 
requisite elements under a negligence products liability theory. 
 

Mullins, 236 F.Supp.3d at 944 (emphasis supplied). Judge Goodwin’s analysis reflects both 

West Virginia law and common sense: different claims have different elements.  

On this point, Ford’s citations run enough risk of confusing the state of West Virginia law 

that Plaintiff must address them. On page 24 of its brief, Ford titles its section in relevant part:  

West Virginia law requires plaintiffs . . . to prove the existence 
of a feasible alternative design[.]  
 

Ford claims beneath that heading that “negligent design claims require evidence of a 

feasible alternative design because both theories of liability require proof that a product’s design 

is defective.” Ford then offers a citation string of three authorities. See Ford’s Brief at 24. First, 

Ford looks to the Third Restatement of Torts – an independent legal source. Second, Ford cites a 
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Morningstar holding that applies to strict liability, not negligence. Ford’s Brief at 24 citing Syl. 

Pt. 3, Morningstar, 162 W. Va. 857 (“The cause of action covered by the term ‘strict liability in 

tort’ is designed . . . to permit proof of the defective condition of the product as the principal basis 

of liability”). Finally, Ford cites a law review article that was published six years before the Pattern 

Jury Instructions in this state and written by two product liability defense attorneys.1 Ford’s Brief 

at 24 citing Philip Combs & Andrew Cooke, Modern Products Liability Law in West Virginia, 113 

W. Va. Law Rev. 417 (2011). West Virginia’s appropriately-cited Supreme Court cases, Pattern 

Jury Instructions, and long-respected federal judges are appropriate legal authorities – external 

legal treatises and musings compiled by the product liability defense bar are not. 

 Moreover, Ford’s brief misrepresents a key holding from the Morningstar court. Ford 

points to Morningstar’s statement that an action of ‘strict liability in tort’ is “designed to relieve 

the plaintiff from proving that the manufacturer was negligent in some particular fashion . . .” Syl. 

Pt. 3, Morningstar, 162 W. Va. 857  Ford’s Brief at 26. Ford then leaps – without citation – to the 

conclusion that “[i]n both [strict liability and negligence], a plaintiff must prove that the product 

was sold in a defective condition – which means there was a feasible alternative design that would 

have prevented the harm that occurred and the manufacturer chose not to use it.” Ford’s Brief at 

26. 

 There are two significant problems with Ford’s assertion. First, never did the Morningstar 

court – or any West Virginia court, for that matter – hold that negligent design and strict liability 

cases carry the common element of product defect. On the contrary, West Virginia courts have 

held for nearly fifty years that strict liability and negligence claims are separate claims with 

separate elements. See, e.g., Mullins, 236 F.Supp.3d at 944 (citing Ilosky, Morningstar, West 

 
1 Authors Philip Combs and Andrew Cooke are defense-side product liability attorneys at the law firm Thomas 
Combs & Spann PLLC. 
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Virginia Pattern Jury Instructions, American legal treatises). That a negligence claim does not 

require a showing of product defect is plain from the face of the West Virginia Pattern Jury 

Instructions that cite seminal West Virginia product liability law. Consider the following cut-out 

from the hornbook Pattern Jury Instructions themselves, as printed in September 2017 and 

unmodified to date. Note the contrast of defect (1., corresponding to strict liability) against 

negligence (2., corresponding to negligence theory of product liability): 

 

(Highlights added). Second, Ford misrepresents the “relief” of burden that a strict liability 

claim provides. According to Ford, the “only difference” between strict liability and negligence 

is that “proving strict liability is easier . . .” Ford Brief at 25. In the case of high-stakes product 

liability litigation where Plaintiffs invest substantial sums of money in the litigation process, zero 

product liability attorneys – the undersigned included – would elect to pursue a negligent design 

theory if Ford were correct. It would make no sense. If two theories are the same in every respect 

except that one has an additional element that must be proven (negligence) without any offsetting 
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damage multiplier (negligence), it is easy enough to see that one of those two theories 

(negligence) will utterly die. If Ford’s representations about what the 1979 case of Morningstar 

held were correct, 1979 would have been the last time a plaintiff-side product liability attorney 

pursured a negligence product liability theory. 

But it was not, and the reason is simple. Building a negligence product liability case is 

hard precisely because negligence does not focus on the product: it focuses on conduct. W. Va. 

P.J.I. §424; Syl. pt. 3, Morningstar v. Black & Decker Mfg. Co., 162 W.Va. 857 (1979) (“The 

cause of action covered by the term ‘strict liability in tort’ is designed to relieve the plaintiff 

from proving that the manufacturer was negligent in some particular fashion during the 

manufacturing process and to permit proof of the defective condition of the product as the 

principal basis of liability.”); see also 63 Am. Jur. 2d Products Liability § 519 (“Strict liability 

looks at the product itself and determines if it is defective, whereas negligence looks at the act of 

the manufacturer and the court determines if the manufacturer exercised ordinary care in design 

and production.”)(emphasis supplied). And uncovering that conduct is difficult; peeling back the 

internal operations of a multinational corporation is no straightforward task. It requires extensive 

discovery battles, motions to compel, depositions, and at every step of the process, money. In a 

certain sense, it is easier to take the road of strict liability and simply prove that the product is 

defective. There, the Plaintiff is “relieved” of the burden of proving specific negligent acts. Id. 

But, if the Plaintiff elects to walk the difficult road of identifying and proving specific instances 

of negligence, the Plaintiff enjoys an offsetting benefit that West Virginia’s Pattern Jury 

Instructions and the broader corpus of West Virginia product liability law support: “absent from 

[the jury instructions will be] any element of proof regarding an alternative, feasible design.” 

Mullins, 236 F.Supp.3d at 944 (citing W. Va. P.J.I. §§ 424, 425). 
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 Strict Liability Negligence 

 
 

What must Plaintiff prove? 

 
Product defect – a product 

that is not “reasonably safe for 
its intended use.” W. Va. P.J.I. 

§§ 401, 402, 403. 

 
Negligent conduct – failure to 

act as a “reasonably careful 
manufacturer . . . to avoid 

exposing others to a 
foreseeable risk of harm.”  

 
W. Va. P.J.I. §§ 424, 425 

(citing Yost v. Fuscaldo, 185 
W. Va. 493, 497-498 (1991); 
Webb v. Brown & Williamson 
Tobacco Co., 121 W. Va. 115 
(1939); Strahin v. Cleavenger, 
216 W. Va. 175, 183 (2004); 
Honaker v. Mahon, 210 W. 

Va. 175, 183 (2004)). 
 

 
 
 

Must Plaintiff show specific 
negligent acts? 

 
No: negligent acts are not 

required.  
 

See W. Va. P.J.I. § 401 (citing 
Syl. Pt. 6, Ilosky v. Michelin 
Tire Corp., 172 W. Va. 435 

(1983)). 

 
Yes: negligent acts are 

required. 
 

See W. Va. P.J.I. § 424 (citing 
Yost v. Fuscaldo, 185 W. Va. 
493, 497-498 (1991); Webb v. 
Brown & Williamson Tobacco 
Co., 121 W. Va. 115 (1939)). 

 
 
 

Must Plaintiff show a 
foreseeable risk of harm? 

 
No: foreseeable risk of harm 

is not required. 
 

See W. Va. P.J.I. §§ 401. 
(citing Syl. Pt. 6, Ilosky v. 

Michelin Tire Corp., 172 W. 
Va. 435 (1983)). 

 
Yes: foreseeable risk of harm 

is required. 
 

See W. Va. P.J.I. § 425 (citing 
Strahin v. Cleavenger, 216 W. 
Va. 175, 183 (2004); Honaker 
v. Mahon, 210 W. Va. 53, 58 

(2001). 
 
 

Must Plaintiff prove defect? 

 
Yes: defect is required. 

 
See W. Va. P.J.I. §§ 401. 
(citing Syl. Pt. 6, Ilosky v. 

Michelin Tire Corp., 172 W. 
Va. 435 (1983)). 

 
No: defect is not required. 

 
See W. Va. P.J.I. § 424 (citing 
Yost v. Fuscaldo, 185 W. Va. 
493, 497-498 (1991); Webb v. 
Brown & Williamson Tobacco 
Co., 121 W. Va. 115 (1939)). 
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c. Though Plaintiff was not required to prove evidence of a feasible alternative 
design, Plaintiff presented substantial evidence that a feasible alternative design 
existed. 

 
At the outset – and as the preceding section of this Response demonstrates – West Virginia 

law does not require a plaintiff to demonstrate feasible alternative design under a negligence 

product theory. For that reason, Ford’s argument is moot.  

But even if a negligence product theory did require proof of a feasible alternative design 

as part of her negligence case, Plaintiff in this case provided that proof, and the remainder of this 

subsection c demonstrates how. 

The trial court specifically ruled on this issue in her post-trial order denying Ford’s Motion

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